National History

The roots of Chi Phi run deep in history. A mystic order known as Chi Phi emerged in Bavaria in the 14th century and spread to neighboring Switzerland and The Netherlands. These secret societies were predominantly underground protest movements against the ruling establishment, whether church or state. Such organizations cropped up in Germany during the Reformation and in England during the 16th century. They were generally led by the cultured classes, who championed religious and political freedom under the banner of Chi Phi.

In Great Britain, these clusters of protest groups were later called "chapels." The tradition of chapels with a motto which would later become Chi Phi's secret motto and with the canon of independent thinking was transplanted to the New World where chapels eventually functioned as the patriotic committees of correspondence who fueled the flame of Revolution. Chapels were particularly strong in the colonial South, existing in Virginia and the Carolinas as late as 1850. Soon after, their lingering influence could be felt when talk of secession reverberated throughout Southern states on the eve of the Civil War.
Princeton Order

The chapel concept is the likely source for the official beginning of our Fraternity when a society bearing the name of Chi Phi was established at the College of New Jersey (later Princeton University) on December 24, 1824. The Chi Phi Society was organized primarily through the efforts of the Reverend Dr. Robert Baird, a principal of the Princeton Academy, who had graduated from the seminary in 1822. The chief purpose of the Society was to promote the circulation of correct opinions upon Religion, Morals, Education, etc., excluding Sectarian Theology and Party Politics. Each member was obliged to publish some article on a monthly basis addressing these subjects under a pseudonym taken from Greek mythology - Agamemnon, Achilles, Menelaus.

According to Dr. Baird’s biography, the founders of the Chi Phi Society were prominent theologians and educators: Luther Halsey, Jr., a professor; Archibald Alexander, former president of Hampden-Sydney College and trustee of Princeton, 1824-51; John Maclean, vice president and later president of Princeton; Charles Hodge, a professor; James Carnahan, president of Princeton; and James Alexander, a college tutor and later professor in the college and seminary. Later members recorded are seminary students Edward N. Kirk and Charles Hall and college freshman William S. Plumer.

Inspired by the discovery of his uncle’s papers, John Maclean, Jr., persuaded fellow classmates Charles Smith DeGraw and Gustavus William Mayer to revive the old society with modifications. These three signed a constitution in Maclean’s room which recreated a society with the motto Christou Philoi in the spring of 1854. In the initiation ritual, the Order referred to itself as "The Ancient Order of Chi Phi."


Southern Order

The Southern Order originated at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, already a prestigious institution in the middle of the 19th century and thus a magnet for fraternities. By 1858, 10 leading fraternities were located there. Despite their presence, a number of students led by Thomas Capehart, University of North Carolina 1861, elected to organize a new fraternity or "club" as they called it. In keeping with the chapel tradition in their region, the club adopted the name "The Chi Phi."

The organization was consummated on August 21, 1858, with the following listed as charter members: Capehart and Augustus Moore Flythe, class of 1859; John Calhoun Tucker, class of 1861; and James J. Cherry, Fletcher Terry Seymour and William Harrison Green, class of 1862. All served in the Civil War and Cherry died in action at Chancellorsville.

The Southern Chi Phi badge was a jeweled monogram (rubies and pearls) with the symbols, crossed swords, clasped hands and two stars cut into the gold with the initial letters Sigma, Kappa, Phi and Delta of the motto. A guard pin consisting of a plain shield was adopted. One motto was Xoros Philoi, "Band of Friends." Another was eleutherias kai philoi doxas – "lovers of freedom and honor" evoking the chivalrous nature of the Southern Chi Phi.

Hobart Order

The third and last of the three original Orders of Chi Phi was established at Hobart College in upstate New York in 1860 through the instigation of Amos Brunson and Alexander Johnson Beach of the class of 1862. Dissatisfied with the practices and codes of the three fraternities at Hobart, Brunson and Beach set out to form their own. The chapter’s first historian, Edward Lawson, provided a gothic account of their deliberations some 140 years ago: "It was the night of the 10th day of December 1859. The night was cold and dreary. The wind was howling and whistling through the trees in mournful and melancholy cadences. The snow was drifting into immense heaps and madly whirling around the towering halls of Hobart College, warning the study-worn student to retire to his peaceful and comfortable couch. Gradually the lights went out in each room....Yet there was one light which went not out. In the room sat two students around the apartment. The wreathing, curling smoke of the Virginia weed spreads around its pleasing and social aroma. Four hours had the dwellers of that little college room been pondering upon the subject which for months had found a place nearest their hearts – the establishment of a new college secret society.... ‘Let us found a new society. Let us adapt it to our own wants and the wants of posterity.’ These words were uttered, the friendly grip of fellowship was given, and the infant Chi Phi uttered a cry of joy...."

Before the chapter was organized, Beach saved Brunson’s life in the summer of 1860, by rescuing him from drowning in the cold waters of Lake Canandaigua. This act cemented the bond of friendship and their resolve to carry out the establishment of Chi Phi. Unfortunately, both young men played a brief role, each life cut short by the Civil War. Amos Brunson reached the rank of first lieutenant and died of fever in 1862. After graduating as valedictorian of his class, Alexander Beach enlisted in the Union Army and was promoted to captain before his death in 1864.

The Hobart Order instituted by Brunson and Beach was reminiscent of the colonial chapel with its rebellious nature and confident air of superiority. This is altogether evident in the preamble to the constitution [edited for space]: "Whereas, there is not being in existence in Hobart College, or elsewhere, a fraternity which comes up to our standard of a fraternity, or one in which friendship and brotherhood are the predominant characters; Whereas, we have viewed with disgust and contempt the actions of the various secret societies which exist in our colleges and universities; Whereas, wishing to form ourselves into a body where each and every one will be indissolubly connected and bound together by the holiest of bonds of friendship; Whereas, wishing to be a united brotherhood so that each one of us may have the assistance of his brothers, who he knows bear an undying love for him, and cherish feelings toward him which will ever remain feeling of holy and sacred affection; Whereas, thinking a secret society will be the best means of providing and perpetuating this friendship, We the undersigned students of Hobart College, do hereby covenant and agree to found a fraternity, the object of which shall be love and brotherhood – a fraternity in which shall be embodied our hopes, our desires and our joys, and may God in His infinite mercy look down with favor upon us and assist us in the undertaking."

In preparation for the formal undertaking, a committee was appointed with Edward S. Lawson as chairman to draft a constitution and by-laws; another with William H. Shepard as chairman to secure a suitable badge; and a third chaired by Alexander Beach to find a meeting lodge. William Sutphen was appointed treasurer. As they carried out their assignments, badges were ordered from an official jeweler, a tax was levied to furnish the lodge and a mason was hired to make necessary alterations. A special massive door with a worthy lock and chain was made to guard the security of the lodge room.

On the night of November 14, 1860, the first regular meeting of Upsilon Chapter of the Hobart Order was held in the lodge; each member took the oath and received his badge: John W. Jones, class of 1861; Alexander J. Beach, Amos Brunson, George Gallagher Hopkins, Edward S. Lawson and Samuel W. Tuttle, class of 1862; David S. Hall, David P. Jackson, William H. Shepard, Harvey N. Loomis and William Sutphen, class of 1863; and Frank B. Wilson, class of 1864.

These charter members are legendary in Chi Phi history as the "Twelve Apostles of Upsilon." According to The Chronicles of Chi Phi, "[They] were an unusually strong body of men. With their immediate successors they laid the foundation of an organization so perfect in detail that despite successive unions with two older organizations, it existed unchanged in spirit for a quarter of a century..."

The Hobart badge was a jeweled monogram displaying sapphires or turquoise on one bar of the Chi and rubies or garnets on the other. The first seal consisted of the badge alone. The chapter was rigid in its secrecy to the point that it refused to divulge the year of its founding in Hobart’s college catalogue. Their clandestine meetings were held at 10:00 p.m. weekly with members entering singly by a rear entrance. Such was their commitment to secrecy that on one occasion when a fire alarm was given, the minutes record the chapter as "maintaining a perfect silence even though the fire was in the same block." Even the original minutes were written in cryptic code consisting of arbitrary algebraic signs, numerals and the like.

Union

During the 1865-66 school year, some members from Zeta Chapter at Franklin & Marshall were passing through the Pennsylvania Railroad station in New York and encountered Thomas Bell of Hobart College. The Franklin & Marshall men at first took Bell to be a member of their own Princeton Order from either Brown University or Williams College. [For years, Zeta Chapter had been under the erroneous impression that the Princeton Order had established chapters at these institutions.] Taking the lead, Hobart’s convention of 1865 appointed a committee consisting of Edward Lawson, Samuel Tuttle and William Sutphen to investigate the possibilities of a union.

While negotiations were in progress, three members of Upsilon Chapter traveled to Lancaster and initiated the Franklin & Marshall and Pennsylvania College members into the Hobart Order in June 1867. In turn, the Princeton Order initiated the Hobart men. This precedent was followed in 1874 with the Southern Order. (By virtue of his participation on both union committees, Charles Hendryx was the only member formally initiated into all three of the original Orders of Chi Phi.)

As early as 1865, the Hobart Chi Phis learned of the existence of a separate order in the South when a member of Hobart happened upon a Chi Phi from the University of North Carolina, J. R. D. Shepard, in New York City. As a result, correspondence was exchanged between the two Orders with the Northern Order represented by William Johnson, Wofford 1865, and Hobart members H.C. Hutchings, 1866, and William Sutphen. George Maverick, University of Virginia 1867, and University of North Carolina members Andrew Burton, 1867, and F. H. Busbee, 1868, represented the Southern Order. The courtship was clearly one-sided on the part of the North. Their first overtures eventually were rebuffed by a crippled South which could not summon the spirit of brotherhood. 

The exchange of letters began with one from Johnson to Burton on January 11, 1866, as a follow-up to the meeting with J. R. D. Shepard: "I received a communication advising me to write you and determine whether it is for the best interests of our fraternities to unite in our cause, a noble one as it is, since we unbeknown to each other have adopted the same cognomen. I think we are most assuredly in the right way to truth, fame, and justice...If you will name a day sooner or later, I will call a convention of our fraternity, and if you will do the same, we will meet your delegates in New York City or Philadelphia or Princeton on the day we mutually agree upon."
There were considerable obstacles to overcome, largely cultural. The Southern Order represented a pure confederacy of chapters, loosely bound and proud of their independence. In fact, central authority was an abstract notion to Southern chapters, which had organized only three conventions in their history. On the other hand, the Northern Order was a close-knit organization with a strong central power.
However, the time was now ripe. Both sides persevered as the Northern and Southern Orders met in Washington D.C., on May 2, 1873. According to The Chi Phi Chronicles, "The proceedings of the committee were harmonious, and the action was unanimous, reporting back to their organizations the Articles of Union with a favorable endorsement." Typical of the cultural/organizational differences, the Northern Order promptly ratified the report at its special convention on October 9, 1873. However, the Southern Order was obliged to secure the ratification of each individual chapter. This delay was exacerbated by an internal dispute over Virginia’s appointment of a committee with plenary powers. (Emory refused to ratify the union until January 25, 1875, some six months after the fact.)
Negotiations continued. Despite the internal dissension, Virginia appointed a committee consisting of Meade Haskins, Thomas Gholson Watkins and William Cecil Dabney, 1866, "with full powers to act in conjunction with the similar committee from the Northern Order of the Chi Phi Fraternity in relation to the confirmation of the proposed union of the two Orders."
